
Notice of Meeting

Special Health and Wellbeing 
Board
Thursday 4 May 2017 at 9.00am
in Committee Room 1  Council Offices  
Market Street  Newbury

Date of despatch of Agenda:  Tuesday, 25 April 2017

For further information about this Agenda, or to inspect any background documents 
referred to in Part I reports, please contact Jo Reeves / Jessica Bailiss on (01635) 
519486/503124
e-mail: joanna.reeves@westberks.gov.uk / jessica.bailiss@westberks.gov.uk

Further information and Minutes are also available on the Council’s website at 
www.westberks.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/


Agenda - Health and Wellbeing Board to be held on Thursday, 4 May 2017 (continued)

To: Garry Poulson (Volunteer Centre West Berkshire), Paul Jones (Group 
Manager (RBFRS)), Dr Bal Bahia (Newbury and District CCG), Dr Barbara 
Barrie (North and West Reading CCG), Heather Bowman (Executive 
Director Housing and Communities, Sovereign) Dr Lise Llewellyn (Public 
Health), Rachael Wardell (WBC - Community Services), Cathy Winfield 
(Berkshire West CCGs), Councillor Lynne Doherty (Executive Portfolio: 
Children's Services), Councillor Graham Jones (Executive Portfolio: Health 
and Wellbeing), Councillor Mollie Lock (Shadow Executive Portfolio: 
Education and Young People, Adult Social Care), Andrew Sharp 
(Healthwatch) and Councillor Rick Jones (Executive Portfolio: Adult Social 
Care)

Agenda
Part I Page No.

1  Apologies for Absence
To receive apologies for inability to attend the meeting (if 
any).

2  Declarations of Interest
To remind Members of the need to record the existence and 
nature of any personal, disclosable pecuniary or other 
registrable interests in items on the agenda, in accordance 
with the Members’ Code of Conduct.

Items for discussion
3  Better Care Fund 2017/19 (Tandra Forster/ Shairoz 

Claridge)
5 - 40

That the Health and Wellbeing Board approves the draft plan 
and delegates authority to the Head of Adult Social Care, in 
consultation with the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board, to approve the final plans for 
the Better Care Fund 2017/19.

4  Refreshed Local Transformation Plan for Children and 
Young People's Emotional Health and Wellbeing (Andrea 
King/ Sally Murray)

41 - 60

To inform the Health and Wellbeing Board of the refreshed 
Local Transformation Plan for Children and Young People’s 
Emotional Health and Wellbeing

Andy Day
Head of Strategic Support

If you require this information in a different format or translation, please contact 
Moira Fraser on telephone (01635) 519045.

http://info.westberks.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=38477&p=0


Agenda - Health and Wellbeing Board to be held on Thursday, 4 May 2017 (continued)



This page is intentionally left blank



West Berkshire Council Health and Wellbeing Board 4 May 2017

Better Care Fund 2017/19 - Summary Report
Committee considering 
report: Health and Wellbeing Board

Date of Committee: 4 May 2017
Portfolio Member: Councillor Graham Jones
Date Portfolio Member 
agreed report: 03 March 2017

Report Author: Tandra Forster
Forward Plan Ref: EX3218

1. Purpose of the Report

1.1 The Better Care Fund (BCF) is a government initiative established to fast track 
integration with Health and Social Care. The West Berkshire Health and Wellbeing 
Board’s Locality Integration Board has developed a draft plan based on the 
Department of Health’s 2017-19 Integration and BCF policy framework, however the 
national guidance has not yet been published. Advice from the Better Care Team is 
that all localities will need to submit plans to NHS England by 16th May 2017.

1.2 In order to avoid any delay in the submission of the plan this report seeks the Health 
and Wellbeing Board’s approval for the draft BCF plan for 2017/19, subject to the 
Head of Adult Social Care, in consultation with the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of 
the Health and Wellbeing Board, ensuring the plan aligns with the BCF National 
Guidance once it is published. 

2. Recommendation:

2.1 That the Health and Wellbeing Board approves the draft plan and delegates 
authority to the Head of Adult Social Care, in consultation with the Chairman and 
Vice-Chairman of the Health and Wellbeing Board, to approve the final plans for the 
Better Care Fund 2017/19.

3. Implications

3.1 Financial: Funding allocations are still to be determined but are likely 
to be minimal; estimates are 1.79% in 2017/18 and 1.9% 
2018/19 however, we are negotiating a 2.3% increase in 
2017/18 and 2% in 2018/19 in line with inflation. Whilst 
plans will be agreed for two years there will still be some 
flexibility to make adjustments should the need arise. The 
additional funding announced in the Spring Budget 2017 will 
be ring fenced for Adult Social Care, we are awaiting 
detailed guidance but understand there will be conditions in 
relation to how it can be used. 

3.2 Policy: None

3.3 Personnel: None

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Better Care Fund 2017/19 - Summary Report

West Berkshire Council Health and Wellbeing Board 4 May 2017

3.4 Legal: None

3.5 Risk Management: None

3.6 Property: None

3.7 Other: None

4. Other options considered

4.1 N/A

5. Executive Summary

5.1 The Better Care Fund (BCF) is a government initiative established to fast track 
integration with Health and Social Care.  2015/16 was the first year of 
implementation, all Councils and CCGs had to agree a plan and then obtain 
approval from their Health and Wellbeing Boards

5.2 There has been a delay in issuing the national guidance; we understand this is now 
likely to be towards the end of week commencing 24th April 2017.  However, The 
Department of Health has issued the 2017-19 Integration and BCF policy 
framework, which confirms there are four national conditions, rather than the 
previous eight and four national performance metrics. Advice from the Better Care 
Team is that all localities will need to submit plans to NHS England by 16th May 
2017. 

5.3 Going forward it is still the intention that where systems are able to demonstrate 
real progress in their plans for integration it will be possible to ‘graduate’ from the 
BCF process.  Neither the process nor criteria for this has been agreed but it is 
believed that from 6 – 10 systems will graduate in 2017/18.

6. Conclusion

6.1 The 2015/16 BCF has provided significant learning that should allow us to build on 
plans for the coming year. Delays in publishing the national guidance have created 
a degree of uncertainty but we have continued to develop local plans. This is 
reflective of the approach in both Reading and Wokingham Localities.  

7. Appendices

7.1 Appendix A - Supporting Information

7.2 Appendix B – Equalities Impact Assessment

7.3 Appendix C – Better Care Fund Draft Plan 2017/19

Page 6



West Berkshire Council Health and Wellbeing Board 4 May 2017

Appendix A

Better Care Fund 2017/19

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 The Better Care Fund (BCF) is a government initiative established to fast track 
integration with Health and Social Care.  2015/16 was the first year of 
implementation, all Councils and CCGs had to agree a plan and then obtain 
approval from their Health and Wellbeing Boards.

1.2 The previous two years have required us to plan on an annual basis. The Better 
Care Team has now confirmed that the plans will be for two years. This will align 
them more closely with CCG financial planning.  

1.3 Funding allocations are still to be determined but are likely to be minimal; estimates 
are 1.79% in 2017/18 and 1.9% 2018/19 however, we are negotiating a 2.3% 
increase in 2017/18 and 2% in 2018/19 in line with inflation.  Whilst plans will be 
agreed for two years there will still be some flexibility to make adjustments should 
the need arise.

1.4 Going forward it is still the intention that where systems are able to demonstrate real 
progress in their plans for integration it will be possible to ‘graduate’ from the BCF 
process.  Neither the process nor criteria for this has been agreed but it is believed 
that from 6 – 10 systems will graduate in 2017/18.  

2. BCF National Policy Framework - Assurance

2.1 There has been a delay in issuing the national guidance; we understand this is now 
likely to be towards the end of w/c 24th April 2017.  However, the Department of 
Health has issued the 2017-19 Integration and BCF Policy framework, which 
confirms there are four national conditions, rather than the previous eight and four 
national performance metrics. Advice from the Better Care Team is that all localities 
will need to submit their plans by 16th May 2017. 

2.2 The four National Conditions are: - 

 Plans to be jointly agreed

 NHS contribution to adult social care is maintained in line with inflation

 Agreement to invest in NHS commissioned out-of-hospital services, which                                                                              
may include 7 day services and adult social care

 Managing Transfers of Care ( a new condition to ensure people’s care 
transfers smoothly between services and settings). 

2.3 The four National Performance Metrics are: - 

 Delayed transfers of care
 Non Elective Admissions (General and Acute)

Page 7



Better Care Fund 2017/19

West Berkshire Council Health and Wellbeing Board 4 May 2017

 Admissions to residential and care homes
 Effectiveness of Reablement 

2.2 The Spring Budget on 8th March 2017 announced additional funding for Local 
Authorities over the next 3 years. This funding will be ring fenced for Adult Social 
Care. We have been advised conditions will apply to this funding, we await formal 
guidance.   West Berkshire will receive £704,449 in 2017/18, £583,666 in 2018/19 
and £281,912 in 2019/20. 

3. West Berkshire Locality BCF Plan

3.1 A number of planning meetings have been held with the CCG; please see attached 
the latest draft plan, which is still work in progress and will be finalised  following 
publication of the national guidance.  For the overarching financial plan we have 
worked on the basis of a 1.79% increase on the revenue elements of the Better 
Care Fund.

3.2 In addition to the revenue amounts we anticipate that the Disabled Facilities Grant 
will continue to be paid through the BCF.

3.3 In the new plan the Joint Care Pathway will be confirmed as ‘business as usual’.  
Given the change in status it has already been agreed that this funding will be 
added to the ‘Maintain the provision of social care services’. 

3.4 This year we have reduced the investment into 7 days services to £155k. This will 
require an adjustment to the current arrangement. The remaining funding will be 
used to fund a new ‘step down’ project in Birchwood Care Home; the project team 
have modelled the proposed arrangement on the Willows a successful service 
operated by Reading Council. 

3.5 The BCF also includes funding for West of Berkshire projects. These  include 
‘Connected Care’ ,an ICT project that aims to support more effective information 
sharing across health and social care, a key requirement of any integration 
programme and ‘Care Homes’ which focuses on reducing the disproportionately 
high number of non elective admissions from care homes.

3.6 The West of Berkshire projects have been expanded to incorporate the Mental 
Health Street Triage. This reflects the intention of expanding the BCF to incorporate 
a broader range of priorities.

3.7 Subject to any change resulting from the publication of the BCF guidance we have 
limited funding. This means that we are not currently able to agree to other projects 
which would enhance the range of support to the local residents.

 3.8 We have also agreed with the CCG to include investment related to the contract 
held with BFHT.  This covers a range of services including intermediate care, 
speech and language therapy and the community geriatrician.

4. BCF Assurance Process

4.1 For 2017/18 the BCT have confirmed the assurance process will continue to be 
managed collaboratively between NHS England, the Local Government Association 
and Association of Directors of Adult Social Care.  Initially there were three 
milestone dates, given the delay it is likely to be reduced to one.

Page 8



Better Care Fund 2017/19

West Berkshire Council Health and Wellbeing Board 4 May 2017

5. Conclusion

5.1 The 2015/16 BCF has provided significant learning that should allow us to build on 
plans for the coming year. Delays in publishing the national guidance have created 
a degree of uncertainty but we have continued to develop local plans. This is 
reflective of the approach in both Reading and Wokingham Localities.  

5.2 It is recommended, that the Board agrees the latest draft plan and gives the Head of 
Adult Social Care, in consultation with the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board, delegated authority to approve the plan in order that 
the submission date of 16th May 2017 is achieved. 

6. Consultation and Engagement

West Berkshire Locality Integration Board

Background Papers:
n/a

Subject to Call-In:
Yes:  No:  

The item is due to be referred to Council for final approval
Delays in implementation could have serious financial implications for the Council
Delays in implementation could compromise the Council’s position
Considered or reviewed by Overview and Scrutiny Management Commission or 
associated Task Groups within preceding six months
Item is Urgent Key Decision
Report is to note only
Strategic Aims and Priorities Supported:
The proposals will help achieve the following Council Strategy aim:

P&S – Protect and support those who need it

Officer details:
Name: Tandra Forster
Job Title: Head of Adult Social Care
Tel No: 01635 519736
E-mail Address: tandra.forster@westberks.gov.uk 

Page 9

mailto:tandra.forster@westberks.gov.uk


Better Care Fund 2017/19

West Berkshire Council Health and Wellbeing Board 4 May 2017

Appendix B

Equality Impact Assessment - Stage One

We need to ensure that our strategies, polices, functions and services, current and 
proposed have given due regard to equality and diversity.  

Please complete the following questions to determine whether a Stage Two, 
Equality Impact Assessment is required.

Name of policy, strategy or function: Better Care Fund Programme 2016/17

Version and release date of item (if 
applicable): V.01

Owner of item being assessed: Tandra Forster

Name of assessor: Tandra Forster

Date of assessment: 10th March 2016

Is this a: Is this:

Policy No New or proposed No

Strategy Yes Already exists and is being 
reviewed Yes

Function No Is changing No

Service No

1. What are the main aims, objectives and intended outcomes of the policy, 
strategy function or service and who is likely to benefit from it?

Aims: The Better Care Fund Programme is a initiative 
established to promote greater integration between 
health and social care.

Objectives: To outline the project initiatives and associated 
investment for the West Berkshire Locality Better Care 
Fund.

Outcomes: The range of projects will help promote better 
integration between health and social care services, 
meet the national conditions as set out in the Better 
Care Fund Policy Framework.

Benefits: Improved the experience of health and social care 
services for local residents by reducing duplication of 
services, increase access to health and social care by 
implementing 7 day work, better information sharing, 
protecting existing provision of social care. 

Page 10



Better Care Fund 2017/19

West Berkshire Council Health and Wellbeing Board 4 May 2017

2. Note which groups may be affected by the policy, strategy, function or 
service.  Consider how they may be affected, whether it is positively or 
negatively and what sources of information have been used to determine 
this.
(Please demonstrate consideration of all strands – Age, Disability, Gender 
Reassignment, Marriage and Civil Partnership, Pregnancy and Maternity, Race, 
Religion or Belief, Sex and Sexual Orientation.)

Group 
Affected

What might be the 
effect? Information to support this

Age

Improved access to 
services both in terms 
of pathways and 
availability

National conditions  - see attached BCF 
Policy Framework

Range of projects within the locality 
support this and robust assurance 
process is in place to ensure compliance.

Disability (frail 
elderly) Improved access to 

services both in terms 
of pathways and 
availability

National conditions  - see attached BCF 
Policy Framework

Range of projects within the locality 
support this and robust assurance 
process is in place to ensure compliance.

Gender This is not a 
distinguishing factor 
in this service

This is not a distinguishing factor in this 
service

Marriage and 
civil 
partnership

This is not a 
distinguishing factor 
in this service

This is not a distinguishing factor in this 
service

Pregnancy and 
maternity

No impact This programme of work is currently 
focused on frail elderly

Race This is not a 
distinguishing factor 
in this service

This is not a distinguishing factor in this 
service

Sex This is not a 
distinguishing factor 
in this service

This is not a distinguishing factor in this 
service

Sexual 
Orientation

This is not a 
distinguishing factor 
in this service

This is not a distinguishing factor in this 
service

Further Comments relating to the item:

3. Result 

Are there any aspects of the policy, strategy, function or service, 
including how it is delivered or accessed, that could contribute to 

No

Page 11



Better Care Fund 2017/19

West Berkshire Council Health and Wellbeing Board 4 May 2017

inequality?

Please provide an explanation for your answer:
The proposals are intended to enhance service provision and outcomes for service 
users/patients

Will the policy, strategy, function or service have an adverse impact 
upon the lives of people, including employees and service users? No

Please provide an explanation for your answer:
The proposals are intended to enhance service provision and outcomes for service 
users/patients. Appropriate arrangements are in place which mean employees are not 
disadvantaged by any new arrangements.

If your answers to question 2 have identified potential adverse impacts and you 
have answered ‘yes’ to either of the sections at question 3, or you are unsure about 
the impact, then you should carry out a Stage 2 Equality Impact Assessment.

If a Stage Two Equality Impact Assessment is required, before proceeding you 
should discuss the scope of the Assessment with service managers in your area.  
You will also need to refer to the Equality Impact Assessment guidance and Stage 
Two template.

4. Identify next steps as appropriate:

Stage Two required

Owner of Stage Two assessment:

Timescale for Stage Two assessment:

Stage Two not required: X

Name: Tandra Forster Date: 10.03.16

Please now forward this completed form to Rachel Craggs, the Principal Policy 
Officer (Equality and Diversity) for publication on the WBC website.

Page 12



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

1

                                                                                                                                                                                                                       

BCF Plan 2017 - 2019 Cover Sheet

Health & Wellbeing Board Name West Berkshire

Date of submission
Has the plan been signed by CCG(s)?
Date the plan was Signed off by HWB
Are the minutes of the HWB at which 
the plan was agreed attached to this 
submission?

P
age 13



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

2

Section 1 – Confirmation of funding contributions
Requirement Response

Describe how your BCF Plan meets 
the minimum contributions for:

 CCG minimum contributions
 DFG
 Care Act monies
 Formers ‘Carers Breaks’ funding
 Re-ablement funding

The Total BCF for West Berkshire locality has been confirmed as £10,364m (less carry forward from 2016/17 
scheme underspend) for 2017/18 and £10,534m for 2018/19. 

In 2016/17 the £10,669,442 included £462,000 under spend carried forward from the 2015/16, without this the 
total BCF would have been £10,237,422. Therefore when compared to 2016/17, 2017/18 will see a 1.24% 
increase and 2018/19 will see a 1.61% increase when compared to 2017/18.

The DFG, including the Social Care Capital grant of £1.4m is included in the BCF plans. 

Local Authority Contributions 2016/17 Gross 
Contribution £

2017/18 Gross 
Contribution £

2018/19 Gross 
Contribution £

West Berkshire 0
DFG 1,400,000 1,400,000 1,400,000
Carry forward of 15/16 Scheme underspends 462,000
Carry forward 16/17 Scheme underspends 134,982
Total Local Authority Contribution 1,862,000 1,400,000 1,400,000
CCG Minimum Contribution Gross 

Contribution £
Gross 
Contribution £

Gross 
Contribution £

NHS Newbury & District CCG 5,977,666
NSH North & West Reading CCG 2,829,756
Total Minimum CCG Total contribution 8,807,422 8,964,000 9,134,000

Total BCF Pooled Budget
10,669,422 10,498,982 10,534,000

Is any additional funding from the LA or 
CCG(s) included? 

The Local Authority will be bringing a 60 bed Care Home in-house with effect from 1st June 2017 and we will invest 
£398K from the BCF budget in 2017-18 and £186K contingency funding from 16/17 budget for 7-8 step down beds 
to facilitate Hospital Discharge from Acute Hospitals in order to improve DTOC in West Berkshire. 

The additional capacity project was agreed in November 2016 utilising £146K under spend from the Patient 
Recovery Guide Project.  However, due to recruitment issues the Additional Capacity project didn’t commence 

P
age 14



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

3

until 20th February 2017 therefore there will be a small amount of under spend that will be carried into 2017/18 to 
continue with this project beyond March 2017. 

Please confirm if this narrative plan, and 
the planning return template, has been 
signed by all parties and include the 
name, role, organisation and contact 
details of the authorising officer(s)

The narrative plan was presented to the Health Wellbeing Board on the 4th May 2017 where it was signed  off by 
all parties.

The Local Authority authorising officer is:
Rachael Wardell
Director Communities
West Berkshire Council
Rachael.wardell@westberks.gov.uk

The CCGs authorising officer is:
Cathy Winfield
Chief Officer 
Berkshire West Clinical Commissioning Groups
cathywinfield@nhs.net

Your plan should provide a full overview 
of the funding contributions for 17/18 and 
18/19 and set out any changes from 
16/17. Please summarise here any 
changes from 16/17 and how these have 
been agreed.

The funding for 2017/2018 is £10,364m and £10,534m for 2018/2019.  The funding for the next 2 years is detailed 
below with comparative figures for 2016/17.

  
Scheme Name 2016-2017

Expenditure £
2017-2018
Expenditure £

2018-2019
Expenditure 
£

Connected Care 285,000 285 230
7 Day week Service 500,000 155 155
Patient Recovery Guide/Additional Capacity Scheme 150,000 134,982 0
Protecting Social Care Services – under 65 LD 
residential/supporting living 

1,505,000 1,535,000 1,570,000

Protecting Social Care Services - Carers 300,000 306,000 312,000
Protecting Social Care – Reablement 433,000 441,000 450,000
Protecing Social Care U65 LD Supported Living 433,000 441,000 450,000
Protecting Social Care M&C Over 65 377,000 383,000 390,000

P
age 15

mailto:Rachael.wardell@westberks.gov.uk
file:///C:/Users/RHaines/AppData/Users/home/RHaines/rbandoo/AppData/Users/home/RHaines/My%20Documents/OutlookAttachmentTempFolder/cathywinfield@nhs.net


West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

4

Protecting Social Care – Carers Support 584,000 595,000 610,000
Exising CCG S256 – Carers 327,000 327,000 327,000
Existing CCG Reablement Spend 755,000 755,000 755,000
Joint Care Provider 408,000 416,000 420,000
Rapid Repoonse & Treatment (Care Homes) 543,000 393,000 393,000
BCF Project Management 109,000 120,000 120,000
BCF Locality Lead and admin support (funding to for LA and 
CCG joint support)

100,000 100,000 100,000

IMHA & Veterans 39 39
Step Down Bed Scheme in WB Care Home 398,000 542,000
Street Triage
Capital
Disabled Facilities Grant 1,400,000 1,400,000 1,400,000
Social Care Capital Grant 0 0 0
  
Contingency (1) 253,000 164,000 160,000
Contingency (2)  75 0 0
Performance fund 243,000 222,000 222,000
   
 Total 10,669,000 10,498,982 10,534,000

The planning template, attached, provides more details and a full overview of the funding contributions for 2017-
2019.  These have been jointly agreed by the CCG and Local Authority.

Please summarise the impact 
assessment of any changes you have 
made

Following an evaluation of The Patient Recovery Guide (PRG) pilot project, a decision was taken by the local 
integration board to cease funding this project in June 2016. (The evidence suggested the project did not meet all 
of  its expected outcomes and that the money could be used better elsewhere) The  under spend from the PRG 
was allocated to create additional capacity in the Market in providing 120 hours of community care and 3 step 
down beds to assist hospital discharge and  DTOC.  Due to a delay in recruiting carers the community care did not 
start until 20th February 2017 and we are still trying to secure the 3 step down beds.  The intention is to carry 
forward the unspent budget allocated to the additional capacity to plug the gap before our new project of 7-8 step 
down beds at Birchwood Care home starts on 1st June 2017. 

JCP will continue as business as usual in 2017/18 and following an evaluation of the 7 day services project, (using 
the tool developed through the BCF in 2015/16) this will be re-configured with a much smaller budget. 

P
age 16



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

5

West Berkshire will be introducing 2 new projects in 2017/18: 1) 7-8 step down beds at Birchwood Care Home to 
reduce DTOC and 2)  Integrated Care Teams to look at further opportunities to work closer with primary care, 
model examples of good practice with MDT meetings and work with the top 5-10% of patients most at risk of 
hospital admissions with the aim of reducing Non-elective admissions across the community in West Berkshire.   
The later will not be supported with any budget in the initial phases.   

P
age 17



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

6

Section 2 – Narrative overview
Please describe the local vision for health 
and social care services, including changes 
to patient and service user experience and 
outcomes. 

Our vision for better care is based on improving outcomes for individuals through the delivery of care which is 
responsive, enabling and available as close to home as possible.   We are committed to doing things with (rather 
than to) service users/patients and therefore meaningful engagement is a key part of how we will implement 
change.

Our current system is already under pressure with a number of challenges including:

1. An increasing population, particularly in those over the age of 65
2. Increasing growth in non-elective care
3. Increasing A& E attendances, and pressure on urgent and emergency capacity
4. Rising delayed transfers of care, and subsequent bed days lost
5. Increasing pressures on adult social care for community packages (particularly in rural areas) and care 

homes at a time when the overall Council budget is significantly shrinking 
6. Increasing demand for planned (elective) care
7. Inequality of access to services across the “whole system :the whole week”
8. Care Workforce Availability
9. Increasing pressure on Social Care in relation to prevention and early intervention

We recognise that the challenges facing the local health and social care system are significant.  Demand for 
services is forecast to increase and this is not sustainable in the current systems. Funding pressures are set to 
continue and it is clear that without wide scale transformation we will not be able to meet future needs.

The leaders of the 10 Health and Unitary Authority partners, known as the Berkshire West 10 (BW10), have 
been working together since 2013 within a shared governance structure.   The BW10 integration programme is 
an ambitious transformation programme involving a number of projects across these 10 organisations.  The 
projects operate both at locality level and Berkshire West wide to deliver the intended benefits.  The collective 
objective is focused on improving outcomes for users and patients and achieving long term financial 
sustainability.  Overseen by an Integration Board and with project implementation supported by a joint Delivery 
Group, the BW10 has focused on specific improvements for the frail elderly population, Mental Health Care and 
Children’s Services.   

P
age 18



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

7

The West Berkshire locality integration board informs the strategic direction for Health and Social Care Services 
both in the locality and across West of Berkshire.  This board is responsible for the business and overall 
performance of projects within the BCF and Integration Programme and their focus is to steer and provide 
direction to deliver the agreed outcomes, benefits and efficiencies of each project contributing towards greater 
integration of health and social care. 

We see the Better Care Fund as an opportunity to further stimulate the integration of Health and Social Care 
Services both locally and across West of Berkshire and have created a range of projects to help us deliver this.

West of Berkshire Projects for 2017/18 and 2018/19 include: Connected Care, Care Homes, Getting Home, 
Street Triage for Mental Health Patients and Integrated Health and Social Care Hub.     The workforce project 
which ran in 2016/17 will now be aligned with the STP workforce aspirations.

Locally in 2017/18 and 2018/19 the Joint Care Pathway will become business as usual.  The 7 day services 
project will continue to run but will be reconfigured with a smaller budget as the evidence from this project over 
the last 12 months suggested that it was not offering value for money in its current format.  Towards the later part 
of 2016/17 we introduced the Additional Capacity project, offering 80 extra hours of community care to assist 
with our DTOCs – this project will also continue into 2017-18, ramping up to 120 hours of additional community 
care and 3 step down beds. We will also be investing in 10 step down beds in a local Care Home to facilitate 
hospital discharge from acute hospitals to improve our DTOC and doing some further work on integrated care 
teams, working closer with primary care and looking at both risk stratification and models of MDT’s to help avoid 
non-elective hospital admissions for those with frequent attendances. This work will not have any funding 
attached to it in the early stages, but this is something that may be considered in the future. In addition a deep 
dive into Mental Health will take place at our next Locality Integration Board on 17th May 2017 and we envisage 
allocating some funds to at least one preventative project targeted at Mental Health. 

By 2020 we expect to see:

 Person centred services that focus on outcomes rather than outputs
 Provision of good quality information and advice that empowers people to make good choices and self-

manage
 Care closer to home as the first option
 Flexible services that operate across 7 days where appropriate.
 Services will be simpler to access, have less duplication and reach service users/patients earlier. 

P
age 19



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

8

 Delivery of health and social services to be localised wherever possible including access to crisis, 
 A&E and other services that meet local residents’ needs – with appropriate specialist or wider access to 

regional services that improve outcomes on a sustainable basis. 
 A greater range of local services that promote independent living
 Reduction in avoidable hospital admissions.
 Lengths of stay in Hospitals will be kept to a minimum
 Increased numbers taking up Health and social care personal budgets

Delivery of our vision will achieve system sustainability and therefore deliver value for money. We will do this by 
commissioning new models of care based on integrated Health and Social care pathways that focus on 
outcomes for users/patients.  

In achieving transformational change we will draw on our patient’s and population’s views, and use robust health 
needs assessment in identifying our ongoing priorities. The commissioning and redesign of services will be 
informed by recognised best practice, and performance data analysis, in a context of an absolute requirement for 
improving health and social care outcomes and achieving system sustainability.

As a partnership we will make commissioning decisions based on what works best for our communities.  This 
may be across the West of Berkshire or on a more local level. All the work will need to  deliver the following:

 Enable us to respond to the needs of our local populations by targeting services to give the greatest impact 
on health and social care outcomes 

 Address the views expressed by our local populations of how they wish services to be provided through 
partnership and co-production

 Avoid duplication, focus on strengths and ensures value for money & efficiency

 Promote further health and social care integration where a case for change is made

 Where appropriate we will combine resources, sharing best practice and expertise

Reablement

Our services will continue to have an enablement focus to enable people to self-manage where ever possible.  

P
age 20



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

9

Where care is required it will be delivered by care workers skilled in health and social care tasks to enable 
consistency, it will be supported by identified care co-ordinators and multidisciplinary teams structured around 
localities: the overall aim being to improve the care of older people with long-term conditions and those who are 
at highest risk of deteriorating health. Crisis support will be streamlined with care being provided in the most 
appropriate setting according to service user/patient and carer need. When hospital admission is unavoidable, 
the stay will be of high quality with discharge through the Joint Care Pathway ensuring people don’t get lost in 
the system and are able to be get back to a more settled environment promptly. Support will be enhanced to 
enable people living in residential and nursing homes to receive their care and treatment there, and end of life 
care improved so that people are not admitted to hospital unnecessarily.  In bringing key elements of the frail 
elderly (older peoples) programme on line through our local projects we will be able to assess its impact and use 
this as a template to inform planning for other pathways for the outer years of this five year period.

Dementia Care

By 2020 we expect to have 1614 living with Dementia in Berkshire West.  This is expected to rise to 2165 by 
2030 (50% more than in 2015).  Identifying those living with Dementia and the provision of high quality diagnosis 
care is a priority for all four Berkshire West CCG’s. 

A new refreshed Berkshire West Dementia stakeholders group has been established with the specific aim of 
sharing good practice and identifying solution to current gaps in order to deliver against the Prime Ministers 
challenge on Dementia 2020.  The West Berkshire Dementia Alliance is working with other Alliances in Reading 
and Wokingham as part of this group to shape and inform a new integrated approach to joint assessment, care 
planning and ongoing management of people with Dementia. Younger people, as well as older people with 
Dementia have integrated commissioning of services already in place and Dementia Care Advisors in addition to 
an admiral nurse resource to ensure support is provided in a patient centred approach. 

Over 2017/18 and beyond we will be working to update and deliver our Local Berkshire West implementation 
plan, which will include improving timely diagnosis and delivery quality ongoing management and support for 
people with Dementia and their carer/s.  A separate Dementia action plan and plan on page with key milestones 
is available alongside the Berkshire West CCG’s Operating Plan submission for 2016/17. 

Anticipatory Care Planning

During 2016/17 we progressed our work around the frail elderly pathway (outside of the BCF but within the 

P
age 21



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

10

integration portfolio at BW10 level).  This has allowed us to identify those costing us the highest amount of 
resources in the system.  

Our NEL analysis has progressed significantly in year and we have identified a cohort of around 100 people who 
have frequent multiple admissions and attendances at hospital A&E.  We have begun a targeted approach led by 
our urgent care board and implemented through GP practices, to better manage people with frequent 
attendances to identify blocks and barriers that prevent these individuals from remaining well/stabilised in their 
home environment.  In 2017/18 we plan to amend our Anticipatory Care (CES) to progress this work at GP 
Practice level, with clinicians focusing specifically on quality care planning, reducing non elective admissions and 
continued focus on care home patients.  In 2017-19 we will also use this intelligence to address and identify 
resources that can support individuals and communities in those wards with the highest attendances.  This 
targeted approach will help us address and manage non-elective attendances further to improve health of those 
in our most deprived areas of West Berkshire. 

Many of our schemes as well as the wider integration programme aim to specifically target the highest risk/cost 
segment of our population.  Moving into 2017-18 and beyond our vision for supporting patents with long term 
conditions is underpinned strategically by development of our Accountable Care System and more operationally 
for 2017/18 and 2018/19 through the work of the CCG’s Long Term conditions (LTC) Programme Board, aligned 
with to BCF and Frail Elderly Pathway. 

We will also continue to look at further opportunities for Health and Social Care to work closer by through our 
Integrated Care Team project. 

7 day Services

We also recognise that people need to access health and social care services flexibly. Evidence shows that the 
limited availability of some services at weekends can have a detrimental impact on outcomes for patients, 
including raising the risk of mortality.  Admission rates may also be affected by GP practices being closed over 
the weekend period.  Where admissions occur there is a need to ensure that care and support is available so 
patients can be discharged from hospital when they are clinically fit.   We have therefore established a range of 
health and social care services that are available seven days a week. 

Primary Care will play a pivotal role in delivering our vision to meet people’s needs in the community wherever 
possible and we will look to facilitate this through the move to fully delegated primary care arrangements with 

P
age 22



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

11

NHS England which will enable us to improve quality in primary care.

Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire West (BOB) Sustainability & Transformation Plan (STP)

Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG’s) and providers operating in Berkshire West are members of the 
Buckingham, Oxfordshire and Berkshire West (BOB) Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP).  This is a 
large STP with three distinct local health economies that are effectively driving place based commissioning to 
deliver a five year forward view.  The local health economies provide the best mechanism to transform primary 
care, redesign the interface with local hospitals and drive integration with social care.  Much of the delivery of the 
five year forward view will take place at local health economy level with the STP ensuring the rapid adoption of 
innovation across BOB.  Nevertheless each of the member organisations recognises the opportunities of working 
together with partners at this larger scale and will be progressing initiative to improve quality and realise benefits 
for the wider system. 

Describe how the BCF contributes to the 
local implementation of the vision of the 
FYFV and the move towards fully 
integrated health and social care by 2020; 
and the aspects of the change the local 
area is intending to deliver using the BCF.

Over the next five years, the pattern and configuration of services will be changed in West Berkshire to 
implement the vision of the 5YFV by responding to local health needs by putting the patient at the centre of care 
to empower more people to live well at home. This will require a number of changes to the services that we 
provide. The Better Care Fund schemes will be critical to driving some of these changes.

Developing patient/service user centred care pathways across Health and Social Care

We will continue to create joint system wide integrated pathways across key areas such as frail elderly, mental 
health and children’s services that transcend organisational boundaries to deliver high quality, efficient care for 
patients. In the longer term, we will also go beyond traditional health and social care services to include wider 
determinants of physical and emotional wellbeing, to include services such as housing, transport and leisure. We 
aim to give mental health parity of esteem with physical health, commissioning high quality evidence based 
services which reflect the national mental health strategy and other key guidance.

In response to the high cost of care for older adults, and the growing numbers of older adults in West Berkshire, 
the frail elderly pathway has been developed to improve the care of older people with long-term conditions and 
those who are at highest risk of deteriorating health and are likely to need intensive social care support. As part 
of this, care will be delivered by care workers, supported by identified care co-ordinators. This pathway has been 
developed through a multi-agency project supported by the King’s Fund and is supported by detailed economic 
modelling. In bringing key elements of the frail elderly (older people’s) programme on line through our local 

P
age 23



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

12

projects we will be able to assess its impact and use this as a template to inform planning for other pathways for 
the outer years of this five year period.

Changes to health and social care services over the next five years:

Build capacity in the community across primary, community health and social services to work collaboratively 
and through integrated services to better meet the needs of local residents that avoid their admissions to hospital 
or care homes. 

Expand the reablement capacity linked closely to integration with appropriate primary and community healthcare 
on a localised basis (via Locality Hubs).

As community capacity is increased overall including targeted in-reach to acute, realign acute sector capacity to 
achieve improved patient outcomes, greater efficiency and sustainable acute provider capacity on a reduced 
basis.

Develop cross sector working that targets intervention and support to those most at risk of admissions, including 
enhancing clinical capacity in the community that also supports those admitted to acute hospitals to return home 
quickly.

Maximise the capacity of local people to self-care through embedding of the Care Act that enhances information 
advice, advocacy, carer support, with an overall preventative impact on intensive support and admissions

 Our workforce development strategy will allow us to understand more clearly where the gaps are so that 
we can stimulate the market to respond and target training/support more effectively.  The development 
of shared health and social care competencies will build capacity and improve the experience of health 
and social care for service users/patients as it will mean they will be supported by fewer people who get 
to know them better.

 A proactive approach to provide information, advice and guidance that enables people to understand 
what universal services are available and, where appropriate, navigate the health and social care system 
making choices that support them to maintain their independence for longer.

 We will strengthen our community based asset approach, building on our ‘doing with’ rather than ‘to’ 
approach. Assessments will be person centred; outcome focused and continues to develop re-ablement 
potential. 

P
age 24



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

13

 We will develop locality based working to ensure we know our patch really well and help people as close 
to their home as possible. 

Please list the issues that the BCF will be 
used to address in the local area

Through our Better Care Fund schemes we aim to deliver the following improved outcomes;

 Less duplication between sectors, faster and more efficient joint assessments with lead professionals for 
those with long term conditions.

 Earlier diagnosis, treatment, and support that prevents crises or better enables responses to crises without 
admissions to hospitals or care homes.

 Improved access to information, advice, advocacy and community capacity to manage health and social care 
needs at low or nil cost to the user or carers. This will include online and flexible locally developed access.

 Locality based around GP clusters, mutli-disciplinary social care teams, who will focus helping people remain 
in their community

 Improved choice and control through better access to a wider range of care and support in the local health 
and social care market especially for those with long term conditions. This will include the use of personal 
health and social care budgets to allow greater flexibility in how needs are met. We are committed to 
reducing the need for out of area placements enabling people to maintain family connections. Sometimes a 
local option is not available, where this occurs we will look at how we can support them to maintain family 
connections.

 “Hard to reach” groups with health and social care needs that then require higher levels of intervention will 
have better access to tailored information, advice, care and support which is person centred and aligned to 
cultural, faith, or other requirements. During the Newbury Call to Action event, our plans for integrating care 
were discussed and some of comments on what Newbury’s new integrated system will make to patients and 
service users are provided below.

In practice this should mean service users being able to say the following;

 "There are no gaps in my care"
 "I am fully involved in the decisions and know what is in my care plan"
 "My Team always talk to each other to provide me with the best care"
 "I will always know who is in charge of my care and who to contact"
 "I won’t have to wait in all day for lots of different people to come at different times"
 "it is less time consuming if all services are together in one place"
 "My care is planned with people who work together to understand me and my carer, put me in control, 

coordinate and deliver services to achieve the best outcomes for me"

P
age 25



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

14

Explain how the BCF will address quality 
and reduce costs based on segmented risk 
stratification. (Reference local issues and 
how integration will be used to drive 
improvement). If relevant please provide 
supplementary data to support the case for 
change, including quantifying levels of 
unmet need, issues of service quality, and 
inefficiencies in service delivery. 

The 9 challenges referred to in our vision and identified in our Better Care Fund submission in 2016/17 have in 
main continued to challenge our local economy and will continue to do so over the next 2 years.  We will 
continue with a number of the Berkshire West projects in 2017/18 and 2018/19 and introduce the Mental Health 
Triage project in April 2017. 

Connected Care – is a new system that enables data sharing between Health and Social Care Professionals 
across Berkshire and a single point of access for patients wanting to view their care information.  It also supports 
the delivery of the 10 universal capabilities as defined in the Berkshire Local Digital Roadmap and enables 
service transformation as specified in the Berkshire, Oxfordshire and Buckingham Sustainable Transformation 
Plan (STP). 

There are 3 tranches within the overall project, Tranche 1 went live in February 2017, Tranche 2 will go live in 
June 2017 and Tranche 3 which involves West Berkshire LA goes live in October 2017. 

Care Home Project – The Care Homes project was established in Berkshire West in April 2015 with the aim to 
provide a common and consistent approach to improving outcomes for those people living in Nursing and 
Residential Homes in Berkshire West.  This was through the training and education of care home staff, 
medication reviews of all residents and since October 2015 enhanced care through the introduction of a Care 
Home Rapid response and Treatment Service (RRAT) that provides 7 days a week, 8am – 7pm treatment via a 
multidisciplinary team linking in with specialist nurses and therapists.  The services offers the residents a co-
ordinated and joined up health and social care service, reducing unnecessary hospital admissions to hospital, 
improving the flow of patient from community to acute and back to community and avoiding unnecessary delays 
in discharges back to the care homes. There are 54 care homes in Berkshire West that have engaged with the 
Care Home Services.  The project is showing encouraging signs of success and proposes to build on the work 
already undertaken to reduce NEL admissions from care homes and the supporting pathway to ensure residents 
of care homes in Berkshire West are able to remain in their place of residence as far as is reasonably practicable 
and appropriate.  Over the last 6 months (M6 to M11) we have demonstrated a 5% reduction in NELs when 
compared to M6-M11 in 2016/16.  

Getting Home Project – In 2016/17 Local Authorities and CCG’s in Berkshire West agreed a local action plan to 
reduce DTOC, which included 8 high impact actions. This project focuses on implementation of three of the high 
impact changes for DToC’s – Multi-agency discharge team, discharge to assess and trusted assessment.  Some 
improvements have been achieved in 2016-17 but this project will carry forward into 2017-18

Mental Health Street Triage –  Through the provision of a street triage service operating 7 days per week, 5pm 
– 1am this service will ensure that a Mental Health Professional is available to provide on the spot 
advice/support to police officers dealing with possible mental health problems.  This will lead to people receiving 

P
age 26



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

15

the appropriate care more quickly, reduce avoidable use of Section 136 and non-elective hospital admissions.  

Workforce – This project was derived as a key enabler from the work to develop the Frail Elderly Pathway to 
support the BW10 ambitions to transform the workforce to meet current and future challenges faced by health 
and social care providers. The project will be aligned with STP workforce aspirations. 

Locally we have seen a slowing of non-elective growth in 2016/17 but an increase in delayed transfers of care. 

Newbury & District CCG is the 2nd best performer in the Country for non-elective admissions and we have carried 
out some detailed analysis of our Non-Elective admissions.  A working group has been set up to look at how we 
can offer a more targeted approach to NEL’s during 2017-18. We will also be creating a new project in 2017/18 
on Integrated Care teams looking at more opportunities to work closer with primary care with MDT meetings to 
reduce non-elective admissions from both frequent flyers and patients that are in the top 5-10% cohort. 

In 2016-17 the CCG’s worked with Local Authorities in Berkshire West to develop a system wide “Delayed 
Transfers of Care Action Plan” which was signed off by all partner organisations across the health and social 
care system.  The plan contained locality targets for a realistic but ambitious improvement in DToC performance 
which would deliver the 3.5% target in acute bedsw and an improvement of 5% in performance in community 
beds.  The Urgent Care Programme Board, now A&E Delivery Group and Health and Wellbeing Boards took 
oversight of delivery of the plan.  The key deliverables withing the plan were: - 

 Coding review – a new local coding set for DToC’s which align to the national codes is now in use and 
LA’s meet with BHFT on a weekly basis to agree and sign off the DToC reporting.

 Improvements to the Continuing Health Care (CHC processes)

 Choice Policy: Berkshire West adopted the new national framework and the new Choice Policy was 
signed off by the Urgent Care Programme Board in September 2016.

 Getting Home Project – this project focuses on implementation of three of the high impact changes for 
DToC’s – Multi-agency discharge team, discharge to assess and trusted assessment.  Some 
improvements have been achieved in 2016-17 but this proj3ect will carry forward into 2017-18.

A decision was taken in-year to support RBFT in letting a short term contract to CHS, a company providing 
specialist support to self funders and complex discharges.  This contract commenced on 8th January 2017 and 
the impact and learning will be closely monitored by the Integration board.   West Berkshire has introduced 

P
age 27



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

16

weekly scrutiny meetings to review all patients regardless of length of stay in hospital – early indications are that 
delays are improving as a result of this. 

Despite this progress BCF targets in 2016/17 were missed and further improvement is required.  It should, 
however, be noted that an issue with reporting of delays in mental health beds that was corrected in-year meant 
that the targets were set artificially low as these delays were not in the baseline.  In 2017/18 we will work with our 
Health Partners to fully understand the reasons for delay, look at how these delays are reported and coded and 
work with them to reduce  what can sometimes be lengthy delays. 

Our key focus in the 2017/19 BCF will be to improve our DTOC performance.  We will continue with the Joint 
Care Pathway for all hospital discharges and locally we redirected BCF monies from the Patient Recovery Guide 
project to create some additional capacity in the market with 120 hours of community care and 3 step-down beds 
starting in February 2016 – this project will also run into the start of 2017/18.  In addition we will be investing in 7-
8 step-down beds in a West Berkshire Care Home from 1st June 2017 with money from the BCF plan in 2017/18 
and the use of contingency funding from 2016/17 to facilitate hospital discharge and help improve our DTOC 
performance. 

There is now a significantly heightened financial challenge within all organisations within our economy.  Our 
plans to address this going forward include a move to an Accountable Care System (ACS).  The Berkshire West 
Accountable Care system is a complete transformation of how 3 NHS trusts and four CCG’s within Berkshire will 
work and transact with each other.  By moving away from a system of contractual transactions and closer to an 
allocative distribution of monies coming into the local health economy, the ACS seeks to move to a system 
whereby resources are allocated to the efficient delivery of pathways at cost rather than price.  By moving to this 
new contractual relationship, providers and commissioners will need to share the risk of delivering services 
across the geopgraphy within an overall cost allocation rather than individual organisations being required to 
protect their own financial positions.  Further details can be found  within the Berkshire West CCG’s Operating 
Plan submission (December 2016) and the STP.

West Berkshire Council, like manage across the Country faces challenges in delivering its priorities against 
National Government settlements. The key areas of demand for adult social care in West Berkshire are amongst 
those over 75 and those with dementia, both of whom have a longer than average length of stay due to waiting 
for community based services. As described above, the number of patients on the “fit to go” list continues to 
increase due to the increasing demand for nursing care, residential care and community reablement, and the 
lack of supply. This lack of supply is felt most acutely in the rural areas of West Berkshire where the distances 
involved in getting to and from client’s in the very sparsely populated communities is prohibitive for providers. 

As outlined in our BCF in 2016/17 we have been able to target specific BCF schemes at different cohorts of the 

P
age 28



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

17

population.  In line with what is known nationally within health, 5% of our population will cost us 50% of our 
spend. This cohort generally will include the elderly with multiple complex conditions who have frequent 
requirement for hospitalisation and utilisation of health and social care resources. During 2016/17 we have 
progressed our work around the frail elderly pathway (outside of the BCF but within the integration portfolio at 
BW10 level.  This has allowed us to identify those costing us the highest amount of resources in the system). 

In 20217-19 ???

During 15/16 we have seen this borne out in analysing our rise in non-elective admissions It was found that 
although the over 65s did not constitute the largest number of non-electives by age group; they did consume the 
highest level of cost for their non-elective admissions. During 15/16, the over 65s were found to account for 38% 
of the non-elective activity but 53% of the total cost.

Many of our schemes, as well as the wider integration programme aim to specifically target this section of the 
population.  For example, during 15/16 and continuing into 16/17 we rolled out the ACG risk stratification tool to 
all GP Practices.  We are not sure how many of our GP Practices are actively utilising this tool but in 2017-19 we 
are planning for the BCF Lead to have access and training with this tool to allow analysis and sharing of 
information.  This information will assist our Integrated Care team Project and support successful Multi-
disciplinary Team Meetings along with the local knowledge from within the GP Practices to identify segments of 
the population who have the highest risk of an unplanned admissions and allows us to actively roll out a 
programme of joint health and social care assessment and care planning.  Our Integrated Care Team Project will 
look to build on this over the next 2 years. 

Also in West Berkshire we share with our Berkshire West 10 colleagues an understanding that integrated care 
delivers the best outcomes for our patients and service users. We believe(supported by evidence) that working in 
collaboratively, is the most effective way for us to ensure that we are providing person centred, personalised, co-
ordinated care in the most appropriate setting. As a partnership of ten organisations, with a full range of services 
across the health and social care sector, we can deliver end to end integrated care for our population, radically 
reducing the number of assessments and transactions individuals are subjected to and improving their 
experience of care.

There is a significant financial challenge facing West Berkshire with increasing demand for high quality services 
but a constrained and challenging financial position in the local health and social care economy. We have a 
strong foundation in our shared vision and our track record, but we know that we need to increase momentum to 

P
age 29



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

18

tackle the system pressures and demographic challenges described above.

We simply do not have the resources to meet the expected increases in demand over the next few years if we 
continue to provide services in the same ways as we do now. Unless we find better ways of supporting people 
who are frail or living with long term health conditions, costs will increase exponentially. This will include the cost 
of care home placements, A&E attendances, and emergency admissions to hospital, readmissions, and 
ambulance conveyance costs. Co-ordinated community based care is what people are asking for and what we 
know works. Indeed it is the only way to build a sustainable future.

Combining best practice examples, a sound evidence base, alongside local knowledge, analytics and 
intelligence, we have been able to identify potential new models that will meet the needs of our population and 
address the key challenges we face over the coming years. Using a variety of risk stratification tools and 
methodologies, we have identified the cohorts of individuals that are most likely to benefit and the models of care 
most suited to meet the challenge in the most effective way.  The key target populations are generally older 
adults and people with long term conditions.

Risk Stratification Methodology:

Dividing the population into groups of people with similar needs is an important first step to achieving better 
outcomes through integrated care. A one size fits all approach is inadequate and different sets of people have 
different needs. Grouping has helped us create models that are based on similar, holistic, individually-focused 
needs, and will also help us think about the health- and social-care system in a more holistic way. 

By making these groupings explicit, we are able to provide a more logical way of informing the new models of 
care that are likely to be needed, identifying the outcomes we plan to achieve and by which we will measure our 
success, as well as allowing us to create payment models to incentivise providers to achieve these outcomes.

Risk Stratifying our High Risk of an Emergency Admission Population  

In 2009, nine of the then PCTs in South Central decided to collaboratively procure a risk stratification tool which 
would support case finding for community health staff as well as supporting other programmes for patients with 
long term conditions. The Adjusted Clinical Groups (ACG) tool was implemented into all 54 GP practices within 
the Berkshire West PCT, including the 14 GP practices in North and West (3) and South Reading (11) CCGs. 
This tool has allowed us, in collaboration with our Berkshire Community Health Service, to have a richer source 

P
age 30



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

19

of information about the health needs of the local practice population and to be able to support a reduction in 
emergency admissions. 

Please provide a description of the 
specifics of the overarching governance 
and accountability structures in place 
locally to support integrated care, including:

 A description of the specifics of the 
management and oversight in 
place to support the delivery of the 
BCF plan?

 An articulation of the arrangements 
in place to support joint working?

 Key milestones associated with the 
delivery of the plan of action in 
2016-17?

 A fully populated and 
comprehensive risk log, with 
evidence that it has been 
developed in partnership with all 
stakeholders and a description of 
how risks will be managed 
operationally including:

 A quantified pooled 

The West Berkshire Health and Wellbeing Board will have strategic oversight and governance for the West 
Berkshire Better Care Fund and related arrangements.  Membership of this Board includes two voluntary sector 
representatives, as well as West Berkshire Healthwatch, together with Newbury & District CCG, North West 
Reading CCG and West Berkshire Council.  This Board meets regularly and will receive reports on progress, 
outcomes and exceptions on performance and risks.  This board will ensure appropriate monitoring of progress 
against national and local performance in the BCF, and regular updating of the risk register associated with such 
performance.

Because the local health and social care economy works across our Berkshire West boundaries many of the 
schemes within the plan are part of a wider Integration Programme, as outlined below:

P
age 31



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

20

funding amount that is ‘at 
risk’

 Demonstration that this 
has been calculated using 
clear analytics and 
modelling

 An articulation of any other 
risks associated with not 
meeting BCF targets in 
2016-17

 An articulation of the risk 
sharing arrangements in 
place across the health 
and care system, and how 
these are reflected in 
contracting and payment 
arrangementsP

age 32



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

21

There are monthly Berkshire West Delivery Group meetings with representatives from each of the partner 
organisations in attendance. For projects that span all three unitary authorities in Berkshire West (Reading 
Borough Council and Wokingham Borough Council as well as West Berkshire Council), accountability is held 
with the Berkshire West Integration Board.  All projects that span the three localities are required to submit a 
monthly highlight report, which includes milestone and financial status, key achievements, next steps, issues and 
risks. 

West Berkshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board has strategic oversight of our plans to develop more integrated 
services within the district. The Health and Wellbeing Board has already overseen the production of the latest 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment for West Berkshire, and led the development of a Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy and Delivery Plan.  The Board is therefore well placed to ensure West Berkshire’s integration plans 
draw on local evidence of need and health inequalities.  

The Programme Office across Berkshire West ensures there is sufficient project management capacity to deliver 
both the local and wider enabling schemes identified within this submission. The next section describes the 
management and oversight which monitors project delivery to ensure our identified schemes remain on track.

Within the Programme Management Methodology being used to implement the BCF the Health and Wellbeing 
Board act as the Programme Board and the West Berkshire Health and Wellbeing Steering Group as project 
board.

Every project is sponsored by one or more senior managers and a clinician from across the health and social 
care economy. There are implementation teams for each of the named projects with assigned Project Managers

We are utilising the Office of Government Commerce (OGC) best practice framework “Managing Successful 
Programmes” to manage the overarching programme and the Prince 2 Project Management Methodology for 
management of the individual projects within it.

Project Managers will report to the Projects Board at regular intervals.   Terms of reference exist for all groups 
and specific responsibilities have been documented for named roles, e.g. Programme Manager

Governance Strategies for the Programme have been formulated and documented to ensure consistency across 

P
age 33



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

22

the projects  and encompass the following:

 Benefits management

  Information management;

 Risk management;

 Issue resolution;

 Monitoring and control

 Quality management; 

 Programme

  resource management; 

 Stakeholder engagement/consultation/communication

For example project issues or risks which have been identified and logged at the project level but cannot be 
resolved/managed there, will be escalated to the Health and Wellbeing Steering Group through regular Highlight 
Reports and if they cannot be resolved/managed there, they will be escalated to the Delivery Group and so on. 
Programme risks will be regularly reviewed by the Steering Group and an action plan put in place for any risks 
that remain red following mitigation.

From 2017-19 , within West Berkshire’s locality any exisitng projects or projects that are deemed business as 
usual have a PID on a page, which summaries the objectives, benefits etc.  A full project PID is required to be 
submitted to the locality integration board for any new projects.  These full PIDs are also presented to the 
Finance sub-group who under the new Chair are currently developing a value for money model, which will be 
used for any future projects. 

Risk Register

 A risk register is kept for each project and project managers are required to review on a regular basis and 
escalate unmanageable risks up through the governance structure.

Risk Share Agreement

By its nature a pooled budget provides an appropriate vehicle for sharing risk between the associated parties. 

P
age 34



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

23

The arrangements for risk share, overspends and underspends in the BCF are set out in Schedule 3 of the 
Locality S75 Agreement.

S75 Agreement

2.1 The risk share fund in the BCF comprises the value of the aggregate reduction in non-elective 
admissions expected to be achieved in the year from the successful implementation of the specified 
schemes.   

2.2 At the commencement of the agreement the value of the risk share fund is withheld by the CCG from its 
BCF allocation. 

2.3 Where admission avoidance schemes are successful and the planned levels of activity are achieved 
and, as such, value is delivered to the NHS in that way, then the risk share funding may be released to 
be spent as agreed by the partners.  Any payments made from the risk share fund will be on a quarterly 
basis, in arrears, which are equivalent to the value of the savings made, up to the maximum risk share 
fund.

2.4 Any amount released from the risk share fund cannot exceed the amount set aside for the schemes 
listed in the Locality S75 Agreement.

2.5 Where the anticipated savings benefits are not achieved, any unreleased funds are retained by the CCG 
to cover the cost of additional non-elective activity.

3. Pooled Fund Manager

3.1 The Pooled Fund Manager will at all times be responsible for managing schemes within the budget 
available, including any amounts which may have been released from the risk share.

3.2 The Pooled Fund Manager will be responsible for setting out a phased budget for both costs and benefits 
for schemes at the commencement of the financial year and for reporting actual costs and benefits year-to-
date with a forecast for the full year on a monthly basis.

3.3 Overspends which cannot be otherwise mitigated, shall be met in the first instance from the respective 
scheme’s Pooled Fund Contingency. Should this be insufficient, then any residual overspend shall be met 
by the Pooled Fund holder for the respective scheme.

P
age 35



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

24

3.4 In the event that expenditure from any Pooled Fund in any financial year is less than the aggregate value 
of the financial contributions made for that financial year, the surplus monies will be returned to the Partner 
contributing to the Pool unless alternative arrangements are agreed by the Partners.

3.5 Reputational risk will be managed through an aligned communications and engagement plan.

4. Risk Management Framework& Governance Arrangements

4.1 A comprehensive risk register will be in place to manage or mitigate known and emerging risks associated 
with the development and implementation of the Better Care Fund Plan.

4.2 Resources to support the development and maintenance of the risk register will be identified by the parties.

4.3 The Risk Log will be reviewed by groups that are responsible for the individual identified risks – e.g. the 
finance risks will be reviewed on a monthly basis by the finance group who will update the Risk log for the 
Programme and provide these updates to the Programme manager for inclusion into the Master Risk Log. 
The Programme Manager has overall responsibility for ensuring the Risk Log is updated regularly and 
reported to the Integration Board.  Significant risks will be escalated to the Partnership Board and the 
Health and Well Being Board and up to the key decision making bodies in both organisations as 
appropriate

4.4 The Risk Log will also be reviewed in both health and social care individual governance frameworks.  

5. Accounting Arrangements

5.1 In determining the pooled budget arrangements the following factors have been considered

(a) Whether the funds are being transferred or not from health to social care

(b) Who is commissioning the service associated with the budget

(c) Which organisation is providing the resources to run/manage the service

(d) Who are parties to any associated contracts

(e) Which organisation bears the risk of any overspend

P
age 36



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

25

(f) Where any cost savings benefit arise

(g) Which staff are involved

5.2 The appropriate accounting standards of each organisation will apply in relation to any joint arrangements 
that are put in place.

5.3 Each of the CCGs and the Local Authority will recognise its share of the pooled budget in it 
individual accounts and memorandum accounts will be maintained.

P
age 37



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

26

Section 3 - National Conditions
Plans Jointly Agreed

Does the BCF Plan cover a minimum of the pooled Fund specified in the 
Spending Review, and potentially extending to the totality of the health and 
care spend in the HWB area, and is it signed off by the HWB itself, and by the 
constituent Councils and CCGs?

Explain how, in agreeing the plan, have you engaged with health and social 
care providers likely to be affected by the use of the Fund in order to achieve 
the best outcomes for local people. Please illustrate:

 There is joint agreement across commissioners and providers as to 
how the BCF will contribute to a longer term strategic plan

 This includes an assessment of future capacity and workforce 
requirements across the system

 The implications for local providers have been set out clearly for 
HWBs so that their agreement for the deployment of the Fund 
includes recognition of the service change consequences?

As the Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) will again be allocated through the 
BCF, please confirm that local housing authority representatives have been 
involved in developing and agreeing the plan, in order to ensure a joined-up 
approach to improving outcomes across health, social care and housing.

Our Better Care Fund projects have been developed and rolled out over a 
series of meetings and the West Berkshire Locality Integration Board 
involving Acute Trust, community health providers, social care, primary care 
and Voluntary Sector. 

These meetings have acted as a local catalyst to co-develop new 
programmes drawing on provider views about local pressures and 
opportunities to work differently to achieve better outcomes.

Going forward with our BCF plan for the next 2 years, we expect that the 
Berkshire Healthcare Foundation Trust, the Royal Berkshire Hospitals Trust, 
Local GP’s, Adult Social Care, Public Health and Healthwatch to continue to 
be part of the integration implementation plans. 

In addition we have held a number of public engagement events to let the 
public know about our achievements and plans over the next 2 years. 

Maintaining the Provision of Social Care

Please specify the total amount from the Better Care Fund that has been 
allocated for supporting of adult social care services and confirm:

As set out in the BCF planning submission, contribution to Adult Social Care 
in 2017/18 has been increased from ? to ? and from ? to ? in 2018/19.  This 
represents a real terms increase on 2016/17 and fulfils the requirement of this 

P
age 38



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

27

 That at least the local proportion of the £138m for the implementation 
of the new Care Act duties has been identified

 The amount of funding that will be dedicated to carer-specific support 
from within the BCF pool?

Please describe how the local adult social care services will continue to be 
supported in a manner consistent with 2015-16. Has this support been 
agreed locally and, as a minimum, does the funding and services maintain in 
real terms the level of protection as provided through the mandated minimum 
element of local BCF agreements of 2015-16?

In setting the level of protection for social care in your local area, please 
describe how you have ensured that any change does not destabilise the 
local social and health care system as a whole?

Please include a comparison to the approach and figures set out in 2015-16 
plans and confirm this approach is consistent with the 2012 Department of 
Health guidance to NHS England on the funding transfer from the NHS to 
social care in 2013-14. 

national condition.

This real terms increase should help ensure some stability for Adult Social 
Care.  However, it should be remembered that the overall gross 
commissioning budgets for Adult Social Care are ?.

Agreement to invest in NHS out of hospital commissioned services

Please detail your agreed plan for using your share of the £1 billion that had 
previously been used to create the payment for performance element of the 
fund, in line with the national condition guidance, linking back to the summary 
and expenditure plan tabs of your BCF planning return template.

Please describe if you have considered whether a local risk sharing 
arrangement is required, supported by analysis of the likely risk of unplanned 
activity in the area based on their track record of performance. Please make 
reference to the consideration of the long term trend in admissions, and the 
success of schemes implemented to date. If a risk sharing arrangement has 
been agreed please explain how the decision was arrived at, and illustrate 
the conditions are appropriate and consistent with guidance.

Our out of hospital vision is underpinned by the development of our 
Accountable Care System and more operationally for 17/18 through the work 
of the CCG’s Long Term Conditions Programme Board, the Better Care Fund 
and the Frail Elderly Pathway Programme. 

Our aim is to work collaboratively across health and social care and the 
voluntary sector to provide quality care for patients; minimising the risk of an 
individual’s health deteriorating and requiring increased service intervention 
and maximising the opportunities for patient self-management.  Within this 
programme of work are a number of key work streams, supported in many 
cases by the Strategic Clinical network and Academic Health science network 

P
age 39



West Berkshire BCF Plan Template – draft version 3

28

For NHS commissioned out-of-hospital services, and services that were 
previously paid for from funding made available as a result of achieving your 
non-elective ambition, please confirm if these continue in a manner 
consistent with 15-16 and provide evidence to support any changes to 
service provision from 15-16 plan.

to help drive transitional change.

Our investment in the Connected Care, Care Homes Project 

 

P
age 40



West Berkshire Council Health and Wellbeing Board 4 May 2017

Title of Report:
Refreshed Local Transformation Plan for 
Children and Young People’s Emotional 
Health and Wellbeing 

Report to be 
considered by: Health and Wellbeing Board

Date of Meeting: 30 March 2017

Purpose of Report: To inform the Health and Wellbeing Board of the 
refreshed Local Transformation Plan for Children and 
Young People’s Emotional Health and Wellbeing

Recommended Action: To note the progress made in line with Department of 
Health governance requirements

Reason for decision to be 
taken:

N/A

Other options considered: N/A

Key background 
documentation:

The report of the government's Children and Young 
People’s Mental Health Taskforce, “Future in Mind – 
promoting, protecting and improving our children and young 
people’s mental health and wellbeing” 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-
mental-health-services-for-young-people
Transformation plan guidance; 
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2015/07/local-transformation-plans-cyp-mh-
guidance.pdf

Contact Officer Details
Name: Sally Murray & Andrea King
Job Title: Berkshire West CCG Children’s Commissioner & Head of 

Service, Prevention & Developing Community Resilience
Tel. No.: 07900 217584 & 07884 235707
E-mail Address: sally.murray2@nhs.net

andrea.king@westberks.gov.uk 

Page 41

Agenda Item 4

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-mental-health-services-for-young-people
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-mental-health-services-for-young-people
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/local-transformation-plans-cyp-mh-guidance.pdf
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/local-transformation-plans-cyp-mh-guidance.pdf
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/local-transformation-plans-cyp-mh-guidance.pdf
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/local-transformation-plans-cyp-mh-guidance.pdf
mailto:sally.murray2@nhs.net
mailto:andrea.king@westberks.gov.uk


West Berkshire Council Health and Wellbeing Board 4 May 2017

Implications

Policy: Health & Well-Being Board are required to review and approve 
local Transformation Plans.

Financial: West Berkshire Council receives £100,000 investment from 
Berkshire West CCGs to improve early intervention specifically 
designed to improve the emotional health of children. This 
funding is provides joint funding of West Berkshire’s  innovative 
Emotional Health Academy. 

Personnel: No change

Legal/Procurement: No change

Property: No change

Risk Management: No change

Is this item relevant to equality? Please tick relevant boxes Yes No
Does the policy affect service users, employees or the wider community 
and:
 Is it likely to affect people with particular protected characteristics 

differently? X
 Is it a major policy, significantly affecting how functions are 

delivered? X
 Will the policy have a significant impact on how other organisations 

operate in terms of equality? X
 Does the policy relate to functions that engagement has identified as 

being important to people with particular protected characteristics? X
 Does the policy relate to an area with known inequalities?

No changes to previous policy position

X

Outcome (Where one or more ‘Yes’ boxes are ticked, the item is relevant to equality)
Relevant to equality - Complete an EIA available at www.westberks.gov.uk/eia
Not relevant to equality

Page 42

http://www.westberks.gov.uk/eia
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/eia


West Berkshire Council Health and Wellbeing Board 4 May 2017

Executive Report

1. Introduction 

1.1 This provides an early descriptive indication of the changes to the children and 
young people’s mental health system (through partnership working), following the 
implementation of Local Transformation Plans. There is insufficient consistency in 
national or regional comparator information, to enable us to reliably benchmark 
local performance and the services mentioned in the report have not been subject 
to independent evaluation. Health & Well-Being Board members are asked to read 
this report with that context in mind.

1.2 The report of the government's Children and Young People’s Mental Health 
Taskforce, “Future in Mind – promoting, protecting and improving our children and 
young people’s mental health and wellbeing”, was launched on 17 March 2015 by 
Norman Lamb MP, the then Minister for Care and Support. It provides a broad set 
of recommendations across comprehensive Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
(CAMHs) that, if implemented, would promote positive mental health and wellbeing 
for children and young people by facilitating greater access and standards for 
CAMHS services, by greater system co-ordination and a significant improvement in 
meeting the mental health needs of children and young people from vulnerable 
backgrounds.

1.3 With the requirement for system wide transformation by 2020, all Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) were tasked with creating a Local Transformation 
Plans. West Berkshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board approved the local plans in 
October 2015 which has enabled additional recurrent funding to be released from 
NHS England to the West of Berkshire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). The 
latest version can be found at;  http://nwreadingccg.nhs.uk/mental-health/camhs-
transformation

1.4 Berkshire West CCGs, with support from all 3 Local Authorities holds a joint 
meeting once a month to oversee and support the implementation of the Local 
Transformation Plans. This meeting is now called the ‘Berkshire West Future in 
Mind’ group and includes a broad representation of providers of services e.g. 
Berkshire Healthcare Foundation Trust (BHFT), voluntary sector partners, Royal 
Berkshire Hospital Foundation Trust (RBH), parent carer representative, Schools, 
Healthwatch as well as the University of Reading. 

2. Areas of Progress Since last Health and Wellbeing report are as follows:

2.1 Berkshire Adolescent Unit (BHFT) is now a 7 day, 24 hour a day service that is now 
a registered tier 4 provision in Berkshire. The number of beds has also now 
increased from 7 to 9 and so fewer children requiring this level of intervention need 
to be placed outside of Berkshire.

2.2 The Common Point of Entry (CPE) is now open 8am until 8pm Monday to Friday. 
The current average waiting time for referrals to CPE is 5 weeks. National 
indications suggest that the national waiting time for a first CAMHs appointment is 
approximately 9 weeks.

2.3 Initial indications suggest a reduction in waiting times, with more children and young 
people receiving timely evidence based treatment across all 5 care pathways. The 

Page 43

http://nwreadingccg.nhs.uk/mental-health/camhs-transformation
http://nwreadingccg.nhs.uk/mental-health/camhs-transformation


West Berkshire Council Health and Wellbeing Board 4 May 2017

indications from the data also suggest that the number of children waiting for help 
has also reduced 

Newbury and District CCG Q3 2016/17
Newbury

Pathway
0-4 
wks

5-7 
wks

8-12 
wks

Over 
12 wks

Grand 
Total

CAMHs A&D Specialist 
Pathway 3  1 6 10
CAMHs ADHD 
Specialist Pathway 10 7 8 3 28
CAMHs ASD 
Diagnostic Team 12 5 17 135 169
CAMHs CPE & Urgent 
care 8 1 2  11
Specialist Community 14 4 2 4 24
Grand Total 47 17 30 148 242

Newbury and District CCG Q4 2015/16- previous year

Newbury

Pathway

0-4 
wk
s

5-7 
wk
s

8-12 
wks

Over 
12 wks

Grand 
Total

CAMHs A&D 
Specialist Pathway 11 2 4 25 42
CAMHs ADHD 
Specialist Pathway 3 4 7 40 54
CAMHs ASD 
Diagnostic Team 11 7 9 199 226
CAMHs CPE & Urgent 
care 29 12 19 4 64
CAMHS Specialist 
Community 7 3  3 13
Grand Total 61 28 39 271 399

North and West Reading CCG Q3 2016/17
N&W Reading

Pathway
0-4 
wks

5-7 
wks

8-12 
wks

Over 
12 wks

Grand 
Total

CAMHs A&D Specialist 
Pathway 2 1 1 1 5
CAMHs ADHD 
Specialist Pathway 9 5 2 1 17
CAMHs ASD 
Diagnostic Team 10 3 16 141 170
CAMHs CPE & Urgent 
care 11 1 1 3 16
Specialist Community 7 2 1 4 14
Grand Total 39 12 21 150 222

Page 44



West Berkshire Council Health and Wellbeing Board 4 May 2017

North and West Reading CCG Q4 2015/16 – previous year

N&W Reading

Pathway

0-4 
wk
s

5-7 
wk
s

8-12 
wks

Over 
12 wks

Grand 
Total

CAMHs A&D 
Specialist Pathway 1 4 7 21 33
CAMHs ADHD 
Specialist Pathway 3 4 4 37 48
CAMHs ASD 
Diagnostic Team 13 4 13 158 188
CAMHs CPE & Urgent 
care 34 17 18 5 74
CAMHS Specialist 
Community 7 3 2 4 16
Grand Total 58 32 44 225 359

2.4 This improvement for children and young people has been delivered against an 
ongoing high rate of referrals for CAMHs tier 3 support. This is evidenced in the 
graph below, that outlines 12 of the 18 month having 700 referrals a month for 
Berkshire West area, but the two line graphs of both total waiting number (green 
line) and children waiting over 12 weeks (red line) both descending over the same 
18 month time frame.

2.5  Information suggests that Berkshire West waiting times for autism assessment i.e. 
40 weeks is lower than the national average. However waits remain longer than 
both the commissioner and provider want locally. The current local target is to 
reduce waiting times for autism assessment to a maximum of 12 weeks by October 
2017. Additional funding has been made available to expedite reduction in autism 
assessment waiting times for children under the age of 5 years by running 
additional weekend clinics. In addition Autism Berkshire and Parenting Special 
Children have been commissioned to provide support to families at the pre and post 
diagnosis stage. 

2.6 The CAMHs Urgent Response Pilot ran throughout 16/17 and has been 
commissioned for 17/18. It operates 8am until 8 pm Monday to Friday and 10am 
until 6pm on Saturdays and bank holidays providing timely mental health 
assessments and care.  A consultant is on call at all other times. Short term 
intensive interventions in the community are provided to young people who have 
experienced a mental health crisis with the aim of reducing the number of children 
and young people who have a second or subsequent crisis. The service also 
provides wrap around support when there are delays in sourcing a Tier 4 in CAMHS 
patient bed.  Response time to assessment has reduced and length of stay in both 
A&E and the paediatric wards has reduced with improved facilitation of admission 
to Tier 4 units when required. Current information suggests a reduction in use of 
agency Registered Mental Nurses at RBH. There has also been a reduction in the 
number of minors admitted to the Place of Safety at Prospect Park Hospital.

2.7 As an example, the graph below shows apparently reducing admissions to the 
paediatric wards through August September and October 2016 compared to the 

Page 45



West Berkshire Council Health and Wellbeing Board 4 May 2017

same period last year. This suggests the effectiveness of the team in supporting 
young people in crisis and alleviating the pressure on acute emergency and 
paediatric care systems. RBH data for November and December is not yet available 
but manual data from RBH indicates the improvement has been maintained. 

Page 46



West Berkshire Council Health and Wellbeing Board 4 May 2017

2.8 We are working with neighbouring CCGs and NHS England Specialised 
Commissioning to ensure best use of resources and implement a care pathway that 
reduces the need for out of area placements.

2.9 Five support community services have been enhanced or set up:

 Peri-natal mental health service
 CAMHs Community Eating Disorder service
 All age Early  Intervention in Psychosis service
 Anxiety and Depression pilot 
 Police and Crime Commissioner has commissioned additional resources to 

enhance the therapeutic service offer for victims of sexual assault and to other 
crimes, which includes children/ young people.

2.10 Young SHaRON (an online platform) builds on the success of the long standing 
SHaRON service for adults with Eating Disorders. Expansion of the web based 
Young SHaRON now also supports women with perinatal mental health issues and 
their partners. The Young SHaRON online platform has been expanded so that 
parents and carers of children and young people who have been referred to the 
Autism Assessment Team can access help and advice. Feedback has been very 
positive. A further subnet will soon provide online consultation for primary care, 
community, voluntary sector and school workers who have undergone PEPCare 
training.

West Berkshire specific arrangements

Emotional Health Academy

2.11 The Emotional Health Academy continues demonstrates early impact on improving 
outcomes for children and young people, and their wider families in West Berkshire. 
The Emotional Health Academy (EHA) aims to:

(1) Increase the workforce at Tier 2 providing additional skills and 
resources to identify and respond to children with this level of need;

(2) Support the development of a skilled, responsive and informed wider 
workforce, by training a range of staff and volunteers in effective, early 
emotional health initiatives and interventions

(3) Reduce the pressure on CAMHS Tier 3 e.g. by reducing inappropriate 
referrals and enabling CAMHS Tier 3 to focus resources on children 
and young people with greatest need

(4) Engage the wider community, including children and young people, in 
increasing emotional health 

2.12 In total the EHA has supported 609 children and young people since 1 April 2016.  
This is greater than initial expectations and demonstrates the value in engaging 
earlier and more briefly in order to reach a greater number of children, young 
people and families. The EHA received 9 self-referrals from CYP between July and 
December. This is positive given self-referral rates are typically low and may be due 

Page 47



West Berkshire Council Health and Wellbeing Board 4 May 2017

to the EHA delivering a series of workshops at the 2016 Peer Mentor conference in 
October.

2.13 The EHA delivered training to 79 professionals across the sector; in total 237 
members of the multi-professional workforce have been trained by the EHA since 
April 2016, also exceeding initial expectations. The EHA continues to offer bespoke 
training and development packages, co-designed with leaders in the workforce, 
which has primarily been taken up by early year’s providers and schools and other 
universal voluntary, community and faith sector providers. The EHA team is keen to 
extend this training offer to private and independent schools, to parents and foster 
carers, to Children and Family Social Services, to General Practice and to Health 
Visiting and School Nursing in the next phase of development.

Impact on outcomes for West Berkshire Children

2.14 The EHA collects routine outcome measures (ROMS) that help service users track 
improvements in their symptoms, wellbeing and functioning. The core ROMS 
include:

 Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) – A behavioral screening tool for 
emotional difficulties, as well as problems with peers, attention and concentration, 
and conduct.

 Outcome Rating Scales (ORS) – A quick self-report measure asking service users 
to rate their individual, interpersonal, social and overall wellbeing.

 Revised Children’s Anxiety and Depression Scale (RCADS) – An assessment tool 
providing a profile on the clinical significance of specific anxiety and depression 
symptoms. This tool is used in assessment and to track changes over low intensity 
anxiety and mood interventions.

 Goal Based Outcomes (GBO) – A self-report tool used to track a service users 
progress towards their intervention goals.

 EHA Feedback Form – A self-report tool used to provide general feedback on the 
quality and impact of service.

2.15 Initial information yielded from ROMS in combination with feedback from service 
users and significant others (e.g. parents and teachers) suggest overall 
interventions are having a positive impact on the initial presenting concerns and 
quality of life. 

2.16 For example, the EHA delivered the Overcoming Anxiety Parenting Program to six 
parents this last quarter. Both parent and child were asked to complete the adult 
and child version of the Outcome Rating Scales (ORS and CORS). Scores above 
30 are indicative of good overall wellbeing; with scores below 30 indicate problems 
with overall wellbeing.  The pre and post test results for both parent and child show 
that on average overall wellbeing was above 30 at the end of the program. This is 
illustrated in the figure below.

Page 48



West Berkshire Council Health and Wellbeing Board 4 May 2017

Pre and post intervention Outcome Rating Scale and 
Children’s Outcome Rating Scale scores for parents and 
children who completed the Overcoming Anxiety Parenting 
Program

2.17 The EHA provides a wide range of brief interventions (individual, small group, 
classroom based) to children, young people and parents for a variety of different 
problems. Overtime, the EHA will be able to collect sufficient data to provide a more 
detailed analysis of the various interventions delivered in community and school 
settings.

2.18 The EHA will continue to collate data from ROM to provide an ongoing and 
increasingly sophisticated analysis of key target areas of impact identified by the 
CCG and Future in Mind. The EHA Operations Manager will also be meeting with 
the lead CAMHS ROMS analyst in February to discuss collaborative analysis of 
outcome measures across Tier 2 and 3 services. 

Multi-agency Emotional Health Triage

2.19 The total number of referrals to Multiagency Emotional Health Triage (EHT) 
between the 1 April and 30 December was 374. A total of 127 referrals were 
received between July and September (Q2), a 62% increase from a total of 79 
referrals during the previous quarter of April to June 2016. A further 31% increase 
was observed in Q3 with a total of 167 referrals compared to the 127 in Q2. The 
volume of referrals exceeded initial modelling during the development of the 
Emotional Health Academy. However, Multiagency EHT is still being embedded 
and subsequently it is too early to draw long-term conclusions from these figures. A 
longer period of analysis is required to establish any increasing or fluctuating 
patterns in referrals. The total number of referrals by month from April to December 
2016 is presented in the Figure below: 

Page 49



West Berkshire Council Health and Wellbeing Board 4 May 2017

The cumulative number of referrals per month between April and 
December 2016.

2.20 There has been an increase in the volume of referrals to Multiagency EHT over the 
last three months. An additional Multiagency EHT meeting was held on 20 
December 2016 to identify service help and support for these children and families; 
and to design group interventions that could support children with similar presenting 
needs. 

2.21 A greater number of referrals were received from GPs, schools, parents or 
guardians. This data is presented in Table 1, and a comparison of referral sources 
by percentage is represented in the Figure below: 

The percentage of referrals by source for the previous (Apr-Jun) and current 
review period (Jul-Dec).

2.22 The proportion of referrals from CAMHS Common Point of Entry (CPE), originally 
referred by GPs between July and December, decreased by approximately 50% 
from Q1. 

Page 50



West Berkshire Council Health and Wellbeing Board 4 May 2017

2.23 There was an increase in referrals received directly from GPs and parents 
concurrently but this was not proportionally different to Q1. Meanwhile the number 
of school referrals more than doubled, accounting for approximately 22% of all 
referrals. Multiagency EHT is receiving a greater number of referrals from sources 
other than CAMHS CPE including direct referrals from parents and guardians.  This 
suggests that pressures on CAMHS CPE should be experiencing reductions as 
more referrers come directly to EHT. However, a longer period of analysis and 
collaboration with CAMHS CPE is required to fully evaluate any impact Triage is 
having at the Tier 3 level.  

Table 1. The number and percentage of referrals by referral source over the 
previous (April to June) and current (July to September) quarterly reviews.

April - June July - December
n % n %

CAMHS Pathway 0 0 9 3.08
CAMHS CPE 
(GP) 29 32.22 50 17.12
CAMHS CPE 
(School) 7 7.78 6 2.05
GP 15 16.67 49 16.78
School 4 4.44 64 21.92
Parent/Guardian 13 14.44 41 14.04
Social Workers 11 12.22 55 18.84
Other 
Professionals 11 12.22 18 6.16

Nature of Need

2.24 The proportion of children and young people referred with emotional difficulties (n = 
60, 47%) increased from the previous quarter (39%). Anxiety (n = 29, 23%) and low 
mood (n = 18, 14%) still made up a significant proportion of referrals.  Overall data 
on the reasons for referral is presented in Figure 3. A total of 27 children and young 
people referred were on the CAMHS waiting list for an ASD assessment and 
diagnosis. This continues to reflect the high level of need in this area.

2.25 Emotional difficulties described referrals for children and young people presenting 
with difficulties managing their emotions and behaviour and reflected the need for 
family based interventions. Triage has identified parenting/family support as a gap 
and area for further exploration, particularly for parents of school aged children with 
emerging emotional difficulties. This was due to the difficulties identifying 
appropriate support options, leading to often to referrals for an EHA assessment. It 
is recommended the Children’s Delivery Group review this potential gap in service 
for parenting/family support of school aged children. The Emotional Health 
Academy will present a proposal for addressing the parenting gap at the March 
2017 Children’s Delivery Group meeting.

Page 51



West Berkshire Council Health and Wellbeing Board 4 May 2017

The number of referrals by presenting concern for the previous (Apr-Jun) 
and current (Jul-Dec) review period.

Quality Assurance
2.26 A BHFT Clinical Lead sits routinely on EH Triage and has recently summarised 

their view on the effectiveness of Triage, with words to the effect of, “The EHA 
Clinical Team has set up positive, reciprocal, trusting, respectful and supportive 
working relationships with the other services that comprise the Multiagency Triage 
Panel. This facilitates services working together effectively to achieve positive 
outcomes for children and young people”. This worker also provides clinicial 
supervision to the EHA team and is availabel tot eh EHA on w weekly basis. This 
ensures that the standards of EHT and EHA activity and decision making are 
clinically overseen.

2.27 In addition, the Quality Assurance and Safeguarding Service (QAAS) were 
commissioned to undertake a safeguarding audit over the Christamas period which 
reviewed 38 EHT cases and subsequent EHA records. The outcome of the audit 
was that the safeguarding practice of both EHT and EHA was identified as good 
overall.

3. Next Steps

3.1 The refreshed Berkshire West Transformation Plan (January 2017 onwards) has 
been approved by NHS England as both clear on the progress (as outlined above) 
and the remaining priorities ahead. 

3.2 Our Local Transformation Plans continue to be about integrating and building 
resources within the local community, so that emotional health and wellbeing 
support is offered at the earliest opportunity. This will reduce the number of 
children, young people and mothers requiring specialist intervention, a crisis 
response or in-patient admission. Help will be offered as soon as issues become 
apparent. 

3.3 Following a visit by the Director of Innovations UK to consider the Emotional Health 
Academy system change, to which we received excellent feedback, we continue to 
progress conversations to see how the learning from this model can be shared 
nationally and if additional national resources investment can be secured for West 

Page 52



West Berkshire Council Health and Wellbeing Board 4 May 2017

Berkshire’s innovative work. Locally, we are also reviewing the sufficiency of mental 
health support to Looked After Children in partnership with Children & Families and 
Looked After Children’s Education Services. 

3.4 As the plan becomes operational the intended outcomes will be that children and 
young people and their families are more resilient. There will be fewer children and 
young people escalating through to urgent or specialist interventions. There will be 
a positive impact on the perinatal mental health of mothers in the early years of 
children. There will be more young people reporting positive outcomes at a 
universal and targeted intervention level, including a positive experience of their 
services.

3.5  The plan expects these outcomes to be reached over the next 4 years;

 Children and young people mental health needs will be identified early, 
especially in universal services such as schools, setting and GPs

 Help will be easy to access, it will be coordinated, including the young person 
and family in the decision making process and provided in places that make 
sense to them. 

 If support is required at a targeted or specialist/ urgent level that this is provided 
quickly, at a high quality level and safely. 

4. Financial information

4.1 Current Tier two funding arrangements for 2016-17 is outlined in the table below. 
This is a mix of directly provided Local Authority provision as well as funded work in 
the voluntary sector. This information does not account for all the provision in tier 
two but the majority that is funded by the Local Authority and the CCG.

Service Expenditure
Emotional Health Academy £100,000 from CCGs

Match funding of
£230,000 from schools 
and WBC

Youth Counselling service (Commissioned)  £29,500 from CCG
Reading Mencap £20,000 from CCG
Berkshire Autistic Society £ 20,000 across 

Berkshire West from 
CCGs

Parenting Special Children £33,974  from CCGs 
Autism appreciative inquiry work    £5,225
Total                                                                                                                    £  
438,699

Page 53



West Berkshire Council Health and Wellbeing Board 4 May 2017

4.2 Current Tier three funding arrangements for 2016-17 are outlined in the table 
below. This is solely funded from the NHS Berkshire West CCGs.

Service Allocation
Tier 3 (specialist CAMHs) funding 
arrangements from Berkshire West 
CCGs as a whole, that is, Newbury & 
District, North & West Reading, South 
Reading, and Wokingham CCGs.

£ 6,306,000This is the total 16/17 
allocation for specialist (Tier 3) CAMHs. 

Community Eating Disorders- this is a 
pan Berkshire service due to the 
population size required.

£  236,000- Berkshire West contribution

CAMHs urgent care pilot project £208,000 Future In Mind resources plus 
£150,000 non recurrent system 
resilience monies from 15/16

4.3 Additional CCG funding for perinatal mental health services and Early Intervention 
in Psychosis (age group 14 years and above) have been made available which are 
outside the scope of this report. 

4.4 The recurrent Mental Health transformation funding has been used to improve a 
range of outcomes for children and young people mental health and spent across 
tiers 1 to 3 with a range of partners. The money outlined below in the bullet points is 
released to the 4 named CCG’s and managed by Berkshire West CCGs.

North and West Reading £ £145,265
Newbury and District CCG £145,265

5. Background Papers

5.1 Future in Mind paper; https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-
mental-health-services-for-young-people

5.2 Transformation plan guidance; http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2015/07/local-transformation-plans-cyp-mh-guidance.pdf

5.3 Links to Local Transformation Plans on the CCG websites (includes and easy read 
version and Frequently Asked Questions section) 
http://nwreadingccg.nhs.uk/mental-health/camhs-transformation

6. Equalities Impact Assessment Outcomes

6.1 Equality Impact Assessment was undertaken in the design and implementation of 
the EHA.

7. Conclusion

7.1 In conclusion, West Berkshire partners have made significant improvements in the 
quality and sufficiency of emotional health intervention and support available to 
children, young people and families in West Berkshire.

Page 54

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-mental-health-services-for-young-people
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-mental-health-services-for-young-people
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/local-transformation-plans-cyp-mh-guidance.pdf
http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/local-transformation-plans-cyp-mh-guidance.pdf
http://nwreadingccg.nhs.uk/mental-health/camhs-transformation


West Berkshire Council Health and Wellbeing Board 4 May 2017

Appendices

Appendix A – Feedback from service users of the Emotional Health Academy is attached 
to this report.

Consultees

Local Stakeholders: All Future in Mind stakeholders across Berkshire West; including 
joint partners in West Berkshire’s Emotional Health Triage

Officers Consulted: Head of Service P&DCR and Emotional Health Academy leaders

Trade Union: N/A

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 56



David

David has a diagnosis of ADHD. He had been finding primary school extremely difficult, resulting in 
numerous exclusions due to disruptive behaviour. David was offered a new start at a nearby school. We 
supported his transition alongside the exclusion officer and educational psychologist by providing holistic 
consultation and direct support around his emotional health needs. David has settled well into his new 
setting with no behavioural incidents, which is a significant improvement from his previous school. His 
mother provided the following feedback:

‘Hi, I just want to thank you all for all your help and support you have given David and myself over the last 
few weeks, it has been a really hard time but I can finally see a light at the end of the tunnel, I have just 
picked David up from his visit and he was smiling. I’ve not seen him smiling at school in a long time, he was 
also telling me how much work he has done and has make some friends, he can’t wait to go back Friday. I 
really appreciate all your help’ David’s mother

Timothy

Timothy was referred to the service through his school. He was initially referred for low mood and anger 
management, with additional difficulties due to his ADHD and ASD. Timothy Completed 12 sessions with 
the Emotional Health Worker and then took part in group anger management. He is now happy at school, 
learning and making friends. 

‘The EHA has been brilliant for Timothy. We have seen a vast improvement in his emotional state. He no 
longer states he wants to kill himself or this is the worst day of my life which were both a daily occurrence. 
He has become less volatile and angry and his outbursts have decreased. He is also more open to 
discussing what went wrong and what he could do next time’.  
Timothy’s Head Teacher

Sarah

Sarah attends an independent school that provides an alternative curriculum for the most vulnerable young 
people. Sarah has ongoing struggles with social anxiety and anger, and has experienced extensive bullying 
in mainstream education. Her parents also struggle with mental health difficulties, maintaining employment 
and ongoing financial burdens. The Emotional Health Worker provided a highly individualised, relational and 
restorative approach in partnership with her school. This involved drawing on her love of animals to improve 
her social and communication skills, and address her worries about her family’s wider struggles.

Overtime Sarah has grown in confidence, been able to speak more openly with her parents, and engage in 
education and targeted vocational training. She has provided the following feedback:

‘By using the ‘I’ statements I can communicate better with my mum and dad at home.’ Sarah

The journey of children and young people 
supported by the EHA.

Page 57



Todd

Todd is a young boy that has struggled for some time with a food phobia. He had a very limited diet, which 
consequently restricted his overall quality of life as well as his family. An EHA Mental Health Worker provided 
a short term evidenced based anxiety intervention which was lead by Todd, and his mother over 12 sessions. 
By the end of the intervention Todd was eating a much wider variety of foods and his family had eaten at a 
restaurant for the first time in years. Both Todd and his mother provided feedback:

‘I think [Mental Health Worker] has been really helpful with all the help and time she’s giving me. I wouldn’t 
be eating without her!’ Todd

‘I have sought help for my son for 10 years now and to no avail, however since seeing the Emotional Health 
Academy we have come on in leaps and bounds. We are now at a stage that I had lost hope that we were 
ever likely to achieve. A massive thank you to all involved.’ Todd’s mother

Adam

Adam is a looked after child who was at risk of permanent exclusion due to poor behaviour at school. At the 
time the EHA LAC Clinician became involved there was not a clear plan around how various therapeutic 
inputs were working together to support Adam’s needs, as well as his transition to a new school. The LAC 
Clinician took responsibility as the lead professional and provided holistic supporting including supporting the 
school transition, building a relationship with Adam to facilitate his engagement with specialist mental health 
services, and to carry out any joint working alongside his specialist plan.

The LAC Clinician’s impact resulted in a cohesive team approach that was lead by Adam. He successfully 
transitioned to his new school without incident and engaged with specialist mental health services. 
Unexpectedly as a result of this work a connection with a Marine Biologist, who is now personally supporting 
Adam in working towards his dream of a career in Marine Biology.

Jane

Jane is currently under a special guardianship arrangement with her grandparents. She was referred to the 
EHA by her school to help engage the family in working together to support her behaviour in the classroom. 
Jane was having tantrums, defiant, stealing and damaging property. This was having a significant impact 
on her friendships and learning. The Emotional Health Worker identified these problems were directly to 
difficulties in the home. As such they provided direct support to Jane and used a family centred approach 
to establish better relationship dynamics within the family over an extended period. The Emotional Health 
Worker helped the grandparents address negative lifestyle factors and to develop a great sensitivity to 
Jane’s needs which resulted in improved emotional regulation. Jane’s family relationships have now 
improved significantly. Difficulties at school have also decreased to the point where Jane is now supported 
fully by her pastoral care team and is enjoying closer friendships. The feedback from grandparents was:

‘Jane’s behaviour has really improved and we really enjoyed the flexibility of the Emotional Health Worker’s 
approach. This is the first time we have felt able to trust a mental health professional’ Jane’s grandmother

Page 58



Stacey

Stacey was struggling with anxiety, particularly in relation to obsessive thoughts and compulsive behaviours. 
Stacey was supported at her school over a period of 12 weeks. The Emotional Health Worker provided an 
evidenced based anxiety intervention that focused on helping Stacey to gradually overcome situations she 
was worried about and manage her thoughts and behaviours. Stacey experienced a significant reduction 
in her symptoms and improvements in wellbeing. Follow-up feedback from her family was that Stacey 
continues to make gains in her mental health and they now feel confident taking what they learnt during 
intervention and building on her gains.

‘I found the techniques for managing my anxiety really useful’ Stacey

‘We have definitely seen a change in Stacey’s emotional health and are really grateful for your help. We wish 
we had of known about the Emotional Health Academy sooner. We were unsure about what would happen 
after the support ended but by the end we were very confident in being able to move forward on our own’.
Stacey’s mother

Alex

Alex is diagnosed with ASD and ADHD and was referred by his mother due to problems with low mood 
and aggression that was putting the family under significant pressure. Our Emotional Health Worker used 
a combination of restorative techniques and innovative coping strategies to help Alex improve his mood, 
behaviour and family relationships. His family described the positive impact to be huge, especially when 
many other interventions had been unsuccessful in the past. 

‘I would like to say a huge thank you to the Emotional Health Worker for the work that he has done with 
Alex - it really has had a positive impact. The focus of the work was on Alex’s responses to demands and 
on helping him to manage feelings of anger or frustration. As a result of the input from the Emotional Health 
Worker, I can see that Alex is taking time to think about his responses and trying really hard to practice the 
strategy that the Emotional Health Worker taught him.

Thanks again for all of your help and support, Alex really valued it and myself and his step-father did too. I 
am so pleased that we have this provision available for children and young people and their families in West 
Berkshire.’ Alex’s mother

Page 59



Head Teacher Feedback

Staff had an initial session with the Emotional Health Worker (EHW) beginning to look at Restorative 
Practice. This has been immediately put into practice by the staff. We are all looking forward to further 
training. The EHW has also been working with individual children and with a group of Year 6 children. 

As Head Teacher, I was privileged to observe the EHW dealing with the group. The group totally engaged 
with the EHW and through restorative justice began to realise the impact of their behaviour. Obviously, 
there is still further work to be done for this group of pupils as they transition to Secondary School.

It is early days, and the EHW has only visited our school four times during this term. However, there has 
been an immediate impact. All my staff feel supported as well as the children which is an added bonus. As 
a result I have just increased our buy back from one hour to two hours per week.

Head Teacher Feedback

The Emotional Health Worker has had a positive impact on the school in
that she has been able to support parents who have been desperate for CAMHS support. This in turn 
helped lessen the load on existing ELSA support assistants. We have had patients independently access 
the service. Do not stop or cut back the available service!

Head Teacher Feedback

The Emotional Health Worker has been fantastic in supporting a group of staff at my school. She comes 
with a wealth of experience and knowledge, and her sessions have been well received.

Head Teacher Feedback

We have been very impressed by the EHA offer. The staff we have worked with have been highly skilled, 
effective and professional. For us, the main benefits have been: 

l an additional and higher level element to our established ELSA systems

l professional development opportunities for teachers and support staff

l excellent resources

l positive engagement with parents

l a clearly identifiable and positive impact on the children being supported

It is our intention to work very hard to build additional funding into our budget next year in order to buy 
more EHA time. That statement, in such challenging financial times, probably says more than anything 
about how highly we rate both the concept and delivery.

Page 60


	Agenda
	3 Better Care Fund 2017/19 (Tandra Forster/ Shairoz Claridge)
	Appendix A and B - Better Care Fund 201719 Supporting Information
	Appendix C - Better Care Fund Plan

	4 Refreshed Local Transformation Plan for Children and Young People's Emotional Health and Wellbeing (Andrea King/ Sally Murray)
	Appendix A - Emotional Health Academy Service User Summary


